OpenLearn



Teaching secondary modern foreign languages





Teaching secondary modern foreign languages



OpenLearn

Free learning from The Open University



About this free course

This version of the content may include video, images and interactive content that may not be optimised for your device.

You can experience this free course as it was originally designed on OpenLearn, the home of free learning from The Open University –

www.open.edu/openlearn/education/teaching-secondary-modern-foreign-languages/content-section-0

There you'll also be able to track your progress via your activity record, which you can use to demonstrate your learning.

Copyright © 2016 The Open University

Intellectual property

Unless otherwise stated, this resource is released under the terms of the Creative Commons Licence v4.0 http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0/deed.en_GB. Within that The Open University interprets this licence in the following way:

www.open.edu/openlearn/about-openlearn/frequently-asked-questions-on-openlearn. Copyright and rights falling outside the terms of the Creative Commons Licence are retained or controlled by The Open University. Please read the full text before using any of the content.

We believe the primary barrier to accessing high-quality educational experiences is cost, which is why we aim to publish as much free content as possible under an open licence. If it proves difficult to release content under our preferred Creative Commons licence (e.g. because we can't afford or gain the clearances or find suitable alternatives), we will still release the materials for free under a personal enduser licence.

This is because the learning experience will always be the same high quality offering and that should always be seen as positive – even if at times the licensing is different to Creative Commons.

When using the content you must attribute us (The Open University) (the OU) and any identified author in accordance with the terms of the Creative Commons Licence.

The Acknowledgements section is used to list, amongst other things, third party (Proprietary), licensed content which is not subject to Creative Commons licensing. Proprietary content must be used (retained) intact and in context to the content at all times.

The Acknowledgements section is also used to bring to your attention any other Special Restrictions which may apply to the content. For example there may be times when the Creative Commons Non-Commercial Sharealike licence does not apply to any of the content even if owned by us (The Open University). In these instances, unless stated otherwise, the content may be used for personal and non-commercial use.

We have also identified as Proprietary other material included in the content which is not subject to Creative Commons Licence. These are OU logos, trading names and may extend to certain photographic and video images and sound recordings and any other material as may be brought to your attention.

Unauthorised use of any of the content may constitute a breach of the terms and conditions and/or intellectual property laws.

We reserve the right to alter, amend or bring to an end any terms and conditions provided here without notice.

All rights falling outside the terms of the Creative Commons licence are retained or controlled by The Open University.

Head of Intellectual Property, The Open University



Contents

Introduction	5
Learning Outcomes	6
1 Learning languages – teaching languages	7
1.1 Becoming a teacher of MFL	7
1.2 Why learn a modern foreign language?	8
2 How can the target language be used effectively in the classroom?	10
2.1 The benefits of using target language in the classroom	10
2.2 Using target language to support all students in learning a language	11
2.3 Challenges to using the target language	11
3 What strategies can be used to motivate students in the classroom'	?1-
3.1 Student strategies for second language learning	13
3.2 Promoting independent learning	13
4 How can creativity be integrated into MFL teaching and learning?	16
4.1 Creativity: what is it and why use it?	16
4.2 Creativity and language learning	17
4.3 Ideas for creative approaches in the MFL classroom	17
4.4 Challenges to taking a creative approach	18
Conclusion	20
References	20
Further reading	21
Acknowledgements	21



Introduction

This free course, *Teaching secondary modern foreign languages*, will identify and explore some of the key issues around teaching modern foreign languages (MFL) in secondary schools. Engaging with these issues and debates will help you to reflect upon and develop your practice as a beginner teacher of MFL. You will also develop a greater awareness of the wider context of MFL education and how this affects teaching a language in the secondary school curriculum.

This course is based on a learner-centred approach to teaching, which is underpinned by a constructivist view of learning – the idea that students will construct knowledge and understanding for themselves as a result of classroom activities and experiences.

Now listen to an introduction to this course by its coordinator, Maria Luisa Pérez Cavana:

Audio content is not available in this format.

As you work through the activities you will be encouraged to record your thoughts on an idea, an issue or a reading, and how it relates to your practice. Hopefully you will have opportunities to discuss your ideas with colleagues. We therefore suggest that you use a notebook – either physical or electronic – to record your thoughts in a way in which they can easily be retrieved and revisited. If you prefer, however, you can record your ideas in response boxes within the course – in order to do this, and to retrieve your responses, you will need to enrol on the course.

This OpenLearn course is part of a collection of Open University short courses for teachers and student teachers.

Learning Outcomes

After studying this course, you should be able to:

- articulate some of the factors that have had an impact on how the importance of language learning is perceived
- list some of the ways that target language can be used to promote student dialogue
- identify strategies that can engage students and promote their motivation to learn a second language in the classroom
- outline creative approaches that can enhance students' experience in the MFL classroom
- classify strategies that promote students' metacognitive skills in order to further support students' language learning development.

1 Learning languages – teaching languages

As a beginner teacher of MFL you are already enthusiastic about languages and their importance. But is this the view of others? What are some common views of MFL and what are the implications for MFL teachers? What are your own views concerning the value of knowing a modern language? What messages are being portrayed around you – in the media as well as in the school curriculum? How do students perceive the importance of knowing a modern language? In this section you will consider how modern languages are perceived and think about how you might address some of the arguments against including MFL on the curriculum.

Reflection point

Before continuing, reflect on what has influenced your own views of language learning and how these views have developed as a result of your experiences.

For example, why did you decide to study languages beyond secondary school? Which aspects of the subject made an impact on you and why? What areas of MFL learning have been important to you since you left school? In what way? Have any aspects affected how you think and act?

1.1 Becoming a teacher of MFL

You are already an accomplished linguist with a passion for the language or languages you have chosen to teach. Your knowledge base very likely includes the literature, way of life, people and cultural aspects of this language. This knowledge base will be one of your greatest assets as a teacher. As a beginner teacher you will need to think about how to communicate this enthusiasm for languages and how you will inspire students to follow your lead.

It will also be important to begin to develop a vision of the kind of teacher that you wish to become, making explicit your beliefs and attitudes as a teacher and, more specifically, as a teacher of languages. You will also need to think about how you will put those beliefs and attitudes into practice. This is not always easy given the demands of the school curriculum and the need to follow statutory requirements.

Some of the students you teach may not be as enthusiastic about learning a language as you. Indeed, MFL is one of the least popular subjects on the British curriculum – this can be seen in Table 1, which shows a continual decline in the number of students taking a modern language GCSE exam at the age of 16 since the beginning of the millennium.

Table 1 Percentage of students in year 11 (age 16) entered for a language GCSE

Year	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011
%	76	78	76	73	68	59	51	47	44	44	43	40

What are some of the reasons for this? If you work in a school, what is the view of students with regard to learning a modern foreign language?

Activity 1 will help you explore how to respond to student perceptions of the importance of knowing a second language and how to justify the inclusion of MFL on the curriculum.

Activity 1

Allow about 90 minutes

Part 1

Ask some students you know what they think it means to learn a language and how important they think it is to learn about MFL in school. How did the views about MFL differ between students aged 11–14, 14–16 and 16-18? What reasons did they give for choosing to study a language to exam level?

Part 2

Now watch the video below, noting some possible reasons for learning a modern foreign language. How could you use these in response to some of the students' views given in Part 1?

View at: youtube:TI53XC-6U9o

There are a variety of educational, social and commercial reasons for learning a language. You will now consider some of these further and how to justify the compulsory study of a language on the secondary school curriculum.

1.2 Why learn a modern foreign language?

A modern language is unlike any other subject on the school curriculum. In other subjects – such as maths, science or history – the students are, in a sense, learning about that subject. That is, they are learning facts and skills, as well as learning how to interpret and apply that knowledge to new situations.

In a modern language lesson, the students are not learning about the language, be it French, Spanish, German or Chinese. They are learning the language itself – how to understand it, how to produce it, and how to combine elements of it to produce new utterances, answer new questions and meet new situations. They are developing linguistic competence such as developing the skills of listening, speaking, reading and writing the target language in a range of situations and contexts. They are also developing knowledge about language, such as grammar and syntax.

Students learning a language also develop other skills: they learn about cultural awareness and may develop an ability to see the world from different perspectives; they also develop creativity and problem solving as they find new ways of understanding and communicating a message. Learning a modern foreign language can also help students in the development of their mother tongue literacy skills, as well as other cross-curricular features such as numeracy and thinking skills.

Activity 2

Allow about 2 hours

Part 1

Discuss with other MFL teachers that you know, their views of the nature of MFL and how the curriculum supports this view. To what extent has their view of the nature of MFL been affected by the MFL curriculum? Does a 'communicative approach' amount to more than just asking the way to the Post Office or ordering a round of drinks in a café? What do the students' views indicate and what might be the reasons behind any difference between younger and older students' views?

Part 2

Referring to the statutory curriculum requirements of your nation, what do these communicate about the role of MFL in your context? What are the challenges of implementing the curriculum for MFL in your school context?

It is not always easy for MFL teachers to realise their beliefs about language teaching and learning in their school context. They may face a dilemma between their own ideal view and the reality of the classroom with many factors outside their control, such as timetable arrangements as well as statutory curriculum constraints (see Hemmings, 2006). The challenge to all MFL teachers is to engage students in the classroom and provide a purpose to their learning that will motivate them to continue studying a language for as long as possible.

2 How can the target language be used effectively in the classroom?

As you have seen, learning a language is not learning about the language but learning the language itself in order to communicate in that language. If this is the case, how can you as a beginner teacher create a more authentic context in the classroom for this to take place? One way of doing this is to use the target language as the main method of communication in lessons.

There is much debate regarding how best to implement this:

- How much target language should be used in a lesson?
- Is it appropriate to use target language in all circumstances?
- How should target language be introduced with complete beginners?
- How do you introduce new vocabulary about classroom routines?
- How should translation and code switching be used?
- What are the benefits of using target language as the main or sole means of communication in the classroom?

This section will address some of these considerations and help you to think about your own use of target language with students you teach.

2.1 The benefits of using target language in the classroom

Using the target language as the main means of communication in the classroom provides students with maximum opportunity to use the language for themselves. This view is supported by a number of researchers in MFL teaching and learning, including David Little (1995) and Hazel Crichton (2009).

Crichton suggests that high-level target language interaction is a way of ensuring that the students have to function at a certain basic level. She also suggests that this supports their acquisition of the language and allows them to communicate sometimes also using spontaneous language. She adds that using target language as the main method of communication can also act as a motivating factor for students as they successfully understand and communicate in the foreign language.

While recognising that a classroom context is not the most natural way of acquiring a language, Crichton suggests that it is still possible if the target language is seen as the normal means of communication by both the teacher and the students.

Reflection point

Consider how you have seen the target language used in classrooms that you have observed or worked in. How did the students respond?

2.2 Using target language to support all students in learning a language

Depending on your school context and amount of school experience, you may have come across a variety of different approaches to using the target language in the classroom, but what are some of the benefits of using target language as the main means of communication in the classroom? Some of the benefits include promoting independent learning, encouraging student talk as well as providing a unique context for students with English as an additional language.

Consider firstly, the role of target language in supporting students with English as an addition language (EAL). Using target language puts these students on a level footing with their fellow students due to the absence of English as the medium of instruction. Teaching strategies using target language which support all students including those EAL include:

- providing visual support to enable students to conceptualise information and learning tasks
- modelling a task, particularly pair and group work tasks
- providing examples of written work
- providing frameworks for writing and speaking
- introducing key vocabulary and phrases in spoken or written texts before students hear or read these
- using oral 'rehearsal' of written tasks in order to focus students' attention on the language required.

You may well have already begun to use some of these strategies in your own teaching. You may also have experienced that it is not always easy to remain in the target language to communicate with students throughout the whole lesson.

2.3 Challenges to using the target language

Although using the target language in MFL lessons is a way of supporting students' use of the language, one of the challenges for MFL teachers is ensuring they limit how much talking they do in the classroom. Even though you as the teacher may be speaking in the target language, it is more important that the students are speaking and communicating with each other in the target language. Many courses based on communicative language teaching (CLT) insist that teacher talking time (TTT) is counterproductive and that MFL teachers should reduce TTT because it:

- automatically limits the amount of STT (student talking time)
- results in long stretches of time in teacher-to-class mode, which can make the pace monotonous
- often means that the teacher is giving the students information that they could find out for themselves, thus making them less active and autonomous
- if the teacher takes the dominant role in classroom discourse, the students' role is only that of respondent – opportunities for developing speaking skills or spontaneous speech become limited.

Similar comments could be made where MFL teachers spend too much time at the exposition and explanation stages of the lesson rather than allowing students to practise and discover for themselves. This is particularly crucial if the students are to develop in oral confidence; it is far less intimidating to talk in the target language in a small group situation than in front of the whole class.

Over the past 10 years, there have been several projects and initiatives to encourage group talk and spontaneous student language in the classroom and the next activity will give you some ideas for promoting student dialogue and encouraging them to speak in the target language more than you as the teacher.

Activity 3

Allow about 1 hour

Watch the video clip 'MFL – implementing the group talk initiative and other strategies' and list the strategies that the teachers use to encourage student talk and the advantages for the students and the teacher. (Alternatively, you can read a transcript.) Complete these notes in a table like the one below (Table 2). The first row has been filled in for you as an example.

Table 2 Strategies to promote student dialogue

Strategies used	Advantages for students	Advantages for teacher
Pictures of clothes	Fashion – engaging topic	Spontaneous opinions
Provide your answer	Provide your answer	Provide your answer
Provide your answer	Provide your answer	Provide your answer
Provide your answer	Provide your answer	Provide your answer
Provide your answer	Provide your answer	Provide your answer
Provide your answer	Provide your answer	Provide your answer
Provide your answer	Provide your answer	Provide your answer

You could also look for other ideas of promoting student talk on the internet. Type 'spontaneous talk in the languages classroom' or 'target language in the classroom' into a search engine and see what ideas you could use in your own context.

3 What strategies can be used to motivate students in the classroom?

This section will consider how to motivate students in language learning. You have already considered how using the target language can motivate students by creating a more authentic environment for learning, but what other strategies could you use? How do different teaching and learning strategies engage students in the classroom? In particular, you will consider how independent learning can act as a motivating factor, as well as which approaches and strategies can be used to achieve this.

3.1 Student strategies for second language learning

The ability to engage in independent learning – where students are not dependent on didactic teaching methods – can enhance their motivation levels when learning a foreign language. However, before they are able to learn a language independently, students need to acquire certain strategies. Rebecca Oxford (1990) distinguishes six main types of learning strategies for independent language learning:

- Cognitive strategies that enable the learner to manipulate the material in direct ways.
- 2. **Metacognitive strategies** are employed to manage the learning process by the learners being more aware of the language-learning process.
- 3. **Memory-related strategies** help learners to link one item or concept in the foreign language with another, and to learn and retrieve information using different techniques.
- 4. **Compensatory strategies** help the learner make up for missing knowledge: for example, by deducing meaning from the context in listening and reading tasks.
- Affective strategies have been shown to be significantly related to proficiency in second language acquisition. These include the ability to identify one's mood and anxiety level, talk about feelings and reward oneself for good performance.
- 6. **Social strategies** help the learner work with others and understand the target culture as well as the target language.

Reflection point

To what extent have you observed students using these strategies in your own school context?

3.2 Promoting independent learning

Using learning strategies such as those outlined above implies an active approach to language learning, and has been closely linked to self-directed learning and learner autonomy (Holec, 1981). However, this does not occur spontaneously; students need

preparation for self-directed learning, including learning when and how to apply learning strategies such as those identified by Oxford.

How students develop those strategies is part of an ongoing discussion focused on the questions of whether strategy instruction should be integrated in lessons or taught separately, embedded in the language teaching materials or made explicit (O'Malley and Chamot, 1990). Depending on your context the statutory curriculum requirements may also favour one or other of these views.

This debate has produced several studies supporting either explicit or implicit strategy instruction. For instance, Holec et al. (1996) argue in favour of presenting learning strategies in a meaningful way within a communicative context for language learning.

On the other hand, Dörnyei (2005, p. 174) has pointed out the advantages of explicit learning strategy instruction, as it not only raises learners' awareness about language learning strategies, but also offers a wide menu of strategies for learners to choose from and encourages students to reflect on their strategy use. O'Malley and Chamot (1990) also argue in favour of separate instruction, where students can focus their attention on developing strategic processing skills rather than trying to learn second language content at the same time.

Consequently, when using language learning strategies in the classroom, it is important to consider whether to use them implicitly or explicitly, although this may also depend on the statutory requirements for your school context.

Activity 4

Allow about 1 hour

Watch the video 'One school's journey'. (Alternatively, you can read a transcript.) As you watch, note the implications for teachers when students use the independent approaches to learning. Use the following questions to help:

- How does taking an independent approach encourage the students to become more intrinsically motivated in their learning?
- What is the role of the teacher?
- How does the teacher model aspects of learning?
- What kind of environment has the teacher created?
- What do you notice about the layout of the room?
- How can you apply some of the principles you observe in this video clip in your own language lessons?
- How are the students able to develop the learning strategies identified by Oxford?
- Are there any activities that you could include in your lessons to further develop students' competency in applying these strategies?

Although not directly focused on independent learning in the MFL classroom, several key messages emerge for the MFL teacher from this video clip.

As the students become more independent learners, they will become increasingly intrinsically motivated and able to take greater responsibility for their own learning, In addition, as you help students to have a greater awareness of the learning process by teaching ways of thinking and learning, you will be supporting the development of lifelong learning strategies that they can apply across the curriculum.

There will also be more opportunities for creative teaching and learning to take place. This is the focus of the next session.

4 How can creativity be integrated into MFL teaching and learning?

Creativity is at the heart of teaching and learning a modern language. It can also contribute to motivating and engaging students in learning a language in a classroom environment. In this section you will consider what is meant by 'creativity' and what this means for MFL teaching and learning in the classroom. You will look at how creativity in language teaching can be used in practice, as well as how creativity can support independent learning and vice versa.

Reflection point

Before continuing, you might find it useful to reflect on your own views about creativity:

- What do you understand by the term 'creativity'?
- How does it relate to language learning?
- Have you observed other MFL teachers teaching creatively?
- Do you use creativity in your teaching?

4.1 Creativity: what is it and why use it?

Consider four ways in which 'creativity' can interact with general education in the classroom:

- creativity behaving creatively
- creative teaching teaching to support creative development
- teaching creatively using your own creativity to develop lessons that interest and motivate students
- creative learning learning to be creative and learning in creative ways.

One of the reasons for developing students' creativity is that it encourages higher-order thinking (see Doyle, 1983). In the revision of Bloom's taxonomy of learning, creativity is the most demanding and challenging of the levels of thinking, and supporting students to be creative helps them develop these higher levels of thinking. Being creative can also help develop students' self-esteem, which in turn can support the development of affective strategies as defined by Oxford (1990), which you considered in Section 3.

Creative learning can also lead to students' increased enjoyment of language learning and greater motivation, as well as increased potential for student-led and independent learning.

4.2 Creativity and language learning

As a beginner teacher you may well have already noticed the link between language learning and creativity, as communicative competence often involves activities where students need to use their imagination, e.g. in role play situations and other contexts of communicative, learner-centred pedagogies.

According to Stern (1975, p. 305), creativity is one of the four characteristics of the native speaker's knowledge or competence that speakers of a foreign languages should aim 'to approximate'. He refers to the creativity of language use in relation to the concept of language competence (p. 307), stating:

Competence is dynamic and active and not mechanical or static. We don't handle our native language in a robot-like fashion as if we had swallowed a phrase book. We constantly adjust language use to novel situations and changing circumstances. We use the language for productive thinking.

More recent research studies have also reported on the relevance of creativity for second language learning, and, in particular, for language-learning success (e.g. see Dörnyei, 2005).

Fehér (2010) points out other elements of creativity, such as transition from one thing into another, transformation and open-ended activities: integral parts of the MFL planning process.

Activity 5

Allow about 1 hour

Consider the advantages of creative teaching in MFL. How can creativity contribute to:

- a sense of purpose for using the target language?
- creating opportunities to experiment with words, patterns and structures?
- developing student's confidence in using the target language?
- developing flexible thinking?
- greater cultural awareness?
- anything else?

Make a note of your thoughts.

By taking a creative approach to your teaching you will also include opportunities to relate the target language to a real-life setting, as you also include activities around authentic materials as well as activities that encourage learners to use their imagination by thinking, feeling and questioning.

4.3 Ideas for creative approaches in the MFL classroom

You may have already observed teachers in your school context using creative approaches in their lessons and you may have also begun to use some creative ideas in

your own teaching. Particular ways in which you could enable students to learn in a creative manner including using language in the following ways:

- **In new contexts** such as drama, role-play or designing posters (for example, a 'Wanted' poster).
- With new media using, for example, poetry or songs, recording jingles or dubbing a film/video clip, etc.
- Creating materials and activities for others such as booklets or games.

Activity 6

Allow about 2 hours

There are lots of ideas for creative MFL teaching and learning on the internet. Visit the following website and note down any of the ideas for creative language learning activities that you could use in your own school context:

Edutopia: 'Authentic activities for the world language classroom'

4.4 Challenges to taking a creative approach

Teaching creatively is not easy. You must be prepared to take risks and risk failure. You have to create an environment where students feel able to do the same. Risks may include giving greater autonomy to students, working in ways unfamiliar to them, or allowing them to deviate from your own intended learning objectives (see Fowler, 2013).

Activity 7

Allow about 1 hour

In Activity 6 you identified creative ideas that you could use in the MFL classroom. In order to implement these successfully you will need to think about how the students will respond and if there are any classroom management issues that you will need to consider.

Using the ideas you noted from Activity 6, complete Table 3 following the example in the first row

When identifying classroom organisational or management issues in the fourth column, ask yourself the following questions:

- What kind of environment will be needed? Will I need to change the layout of the classroom or move outside the classroom environment?
- What resources will I need? How will they be used?
- How will I support the students?
- How will I manage the timing?
- How will I ensure that the overall aims of the learning sequence are achieved?

Creative activity	Possible student response	Possible effect on student learning	Possible classroom organisation or management issues
Create videos about the local area	Students will be drawn into the learning process through their own knowledge of where they live	Students will be motivated to engage on a deeper level with the topic	How many pupils in a group? What equipment will be needed? Where will recording take place?
Provide your answer	Provide your answer	Provide your answer	Provide your answer
Provide your answer	Provide your answer	Provide your answer	Provide your answer
Provide your answer	Provide your answer	Provide your answer	Provide your answer
Provide your answer	Provide your answer	Provide your answer	Provide your answer
Provide your answer	Provide your answer	Provide your answer	Provide your answer
Provide your answer	Provide your answer	Provide your answer	Provide your answer

Since time, effort and risk are required to adopt creative teaching strategies, teachers also need to know how and when to be creative (see Beghetto and Kaufman, 2013) – including how to manage students and activities at each stage of this process.

However, teaching creatively will not only motivate students, but will also encourage their own creativity and keep you stimulated as a teacher. Creative teaching strategies can also help to promote positive student behaviour through increased motivation and greater student involvement in the activities.

Conclusion

In this free course, *Teaching secondary modern foreign languages*, you have considered the wider context in which second language learning takes place at secondary school level. You have also explored a number of approaches and strategies that can support students in moving towards autonomy and independent learning in the classroom. These include use of the target language as the main means of communication in the classroom and making creativity an integral part of the teaching and learning process in order to motivate and engage students in the language learning process.

References

Beghetto, R.A. and Kaufman, J.C. (2013) 'Fundamentals of creativity', *Educational Leadership*, vol. 70, no. 5, pp. 10–15.

Bloom, B.S. (1956) *Taxonomy of Educational Objectives, Handbook 1: The Cognitive Domain*, New York, David McKay Co. Inc.

Crichton, H. (2009) "Value added" modern languages teaching in the classroom: an investigation into how teachers' use of classroom target language can aid pupils' communication skills', *The Language Learning Journal*, vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 19–34.

Dörnyei (2005) *The Psychology of the Language Learner: Individual Differences in Second Language Acquisition*, Mahwah, NJ, Lawrence Erlbaum.

Doyle, W. (1983) 'Academic work', *Review of Educational Research*, vol. 53, no. 2, pp. 159–99.

Fehér, J. (2010) 'The essence of creativity', *TeachingEnglish* [Online]. Available at http://www.teachingenglish.org.uk/article/essence-creativity (Accessed 18 March 2016).

Fowler, G. (2013) 'Let creativity fly in the classroom', TESPro, vol. 2, no. 31, pp. 4–7.

Hemmings, E. (2006) 'An exploration of the relationships between attitudes, learning styles and Year 7 pupils' experiences of language learning', unpublished PhD thesis, University of Nottingham.

Holec, H. (1981) *Autonomy and Foreign Language Learning*, Oxford, Pergamon. (First published 1979, Strasbourg, Council of Europe.)

Holec, H., Little, D. and Richterich, R. (1996) *Strategies in Language Learning and Use*, Strasbourg, Council of Europe.

Links into Languages (n.d.) 'Creative projects in languages' [Online]. Available at http://www.linksintolanguages.ac.uk/resources/1889 (Accessed 21 March 2016).

Little, D. (1995) 'Learning as dialogue: the dependence of learner autonomy on teacher autonomy', *System*, vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 175–81.

Nuffield Languages Inquiry (2000) 'Languages and the next generation, final report', London, The Nuffield Foundation. Cited in Hawkins E. (2002) 'Drop out from language study at age 16+: a historical perspective' in Swarbrick A. (ed.) *Teaching Modern Foreign Languages in Secondary School*, London, Routledge Farmer/The Open University.

O'Malley, J.M. and Chamot, A.U. (1990) Language Learning Strategies in Second Language Acquisition, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Ofsted (2010) Learning: Creative Approaches that Raise Standards, London, Crown Copyright. Available at

http://dera.ioe.ac.uk/1093/1/Learning%20creative%20approaches%20that%20raise% 20standards.pdf (Accessed 18 March 2016).

Oxford, R. (1990) Language Learning Strategies: What Every Teacher Should Know, Boston, Heinle and Heinle.

ProTeachersVideo (2000) 'MFL – implementing the group talk initiative and other strategies' [Online]. Available at

http://www.proteachersvideo.com/Programme/32765/mfl-implementing-the-group-talk-initiative-and-other-strategies (Accessed 18 March 2016).

ProTeachersVideo (2010) 'MFL – implementing the group talk initiative and other strategies' [Online]. Available at

http://www.proteachersvideo.com/Programme/46641/one-school-journey (Accessed 18 March 2016).

Stern, H.H. (1975) 'What can we learn from the good language learner?', *Canadian Modern Language Review*, vol. 31, pp. 304–18.

Why Study Languages? (n.d.) 'See where languages can take you' [Online]. Available at http://www.whystudylanguages.ac.uk/teachers/video (Accessed 18 March 2016).

Wike Loyola, S. (2014) 'Mix it up! Authentic activities for the world language classroom', Edutopia, 18 June [Online]. Available at

http://www.edutopia.org/blog/authentic-activities-world-language-classroom-sarah-loyola (Accessed 21 March 2016).

Further reading

Coyle, D., Hood, P., Marsh, D. (2010) *CLIL*: *Content and Integrated Language Learning*, Cambridge University Press.

Hattie, J. (2012) *Visible Learning for Teachers: Maximizing Impact on Learning*, Abingdon, Routledge.

Reinders, H. (2010) 'Towards a classroom pedagogy for learner autonomy: a framework of independent language learning skills', *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, vol. 35, no. 5, pp. 40–55.

Rinkevich, J.L. (2011) 'Creative teaching: why it matters and where to Begin', *The Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies*, *Issues and Ideas*, vol. 84, no. 5, pp. 219–23 [Online]. Available at

http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/00098655.2011.575416 (Accessed 18 March 2016).

Acknowledgements

This free course was designed by Maria Luisa Pérez Cavana and written by Elaine Hemmings.

Except for third party materials and otherwise stated (see <u>terms and conditions</u>), this content is made available under a

Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 4.0 Licence.

The material acknowledged below is Proprietary and used under licence (not subject to Creative Commons Licence). Grateful acknowledgement is made to the following sources for permission to reproduce material in this free course:

Course image: Catherine Yeulet/istockphoto.com.

Every effort has been made to contact copyright owners. If any have been inadvertently overlooked, the publishers will be pleased to make the necessary arrangements at the first opportunity.

Don't miss out

If reading this text has inspired you to learn more, you may be interested in joining the millions of people who discover our free learning resources and qualifications by visiting The Open University – www.open.edu/openlearn/free-courses.